Aspects of inflammation and nitric oxide in Cluster Headache

Anna Steinberg



From the Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Karolinska University Hospital, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Aspects of inflammation and nitric oxide in Cluster Headache

Anna Steinberg



Stockholm 2011

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet.

Printed by US-AB

© Anna Steinberg, 2011

ISBN 978-91-7457-206-3

To my family

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	2
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	3
ABBREVATIONS	4
INTRODUCTION	5
Clinical description of cluster headache	5
Epidemiology	5
Genetic aspects	6
Pathophysiology	7
Vasodilatation	7
Inflammation	8
Hypothalamic activation	9
Trigeminovascular system activation	9
Autonomic nervous system imbalance	.10
Increase of Nitric oxide levels	.11
TREATMENT	12
Acute treatment	.12
Prophylactic treatment	13
Surgical treatment	14
AIMS	. 15
MATERIALS AND METHODS	.16
Patients and Controls.	16
Inclusion criteria in Study I-IV	18
CH phases studied	. 19
Methods	19
The PAXgene Blood RNA system	19
Microarray technology	20
Quantitative Real-time polymerase chain reaction	22
White blood cell single photon emission computer tomography	.23
Capillary electrophoresis	.25
Statistics	. 26
RESULTS	28
Study I	28
Study II	. 30
Study III	. 31
Study IV	.34
DISCUSSION	37
Inflammatory involvement in CH	37
Nitric oxide in CH	. 39
Inflammation and nitric oxide – an integrated discussion	41
LIMITATIONS	.42
CONCLUSIONS.	.44
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	.46
REFERENCES	48

ABSTRACT

Cluster Headache (CH) is an uncommon headache disorder, with severe implications for the individual patient. The headache is excruciating, unilateral and appearing in attacks. It is common that CH patients show ipsilateral associated symptoms, like for example conjunctival injection, lacrimation and nasal congestion. The pathophysiology of CH is still not completely understood. The overall objective of this thesis was to explore if inflammation and nitric oxide participate in the pathophysiology of CH.

Study I

The aim of study I was to identify differentially expressed genes during clinical phases of CH, assuming that changes of pathophysiological importance would also be observed in peripheral venous blood. Blood samples were drawn at 3 consecutive occasions from 3 episodic CH patients: during attacks, between attacks and in remission, and at 1 occasion from 3 matched controls. Global gene expression was analyzed with microarray tehnology using the Affymetrix Human Genome U133 2.0 Plus GeneChip® Set. In addition, quantitative RT-PCR on S100P gene expression was analyzed in 6 patients and 14 controls. Small differences were seen intraindividually and large differences interindividually. Intraindividual comparisons showed upregulation of several S100 calcium binding proteins; S100A8 (calgranulin A), S100A12 (calgranulin C), and S100P during active phase of the disease compared to remission. The S100A8 and S100A12 proteins are considered markers of non-infectious inflammatory disease, while increased levels of S100P have been associated to different forms of cancer. RT-PCR analysis of S100P confirmed the Affymetrix' results.

Study II

We investigated the cytokine interleukin-2 (IL-2) as a possible marker of immune system involvement in the pathophysiology of CH. Eight episodic CH patients and 16 healthy headachefree control subjects matched for age and gender were studied. Venous blood samples were drawn from the CH patients at three occasions; during active period between headache attacks, during attack and in remission. Venous blood samples were drawn once from each control subject. We analyzed IL-2 gene expression, using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Patients with CH had significantly increased relative IL-2 gene expression levels during attacks, remission and controls.

Study III

In this study we have investigated white blood cell accumulation into potential inflammatory areas intracranially in 14 CH patients, both in active period and in remission, and 5 control subjects, with single photon emission computer tomography (WBC-SPECT). To enable precise definition of regions of interest (ROI:s) in the brain, all CH patients and control subjects also underwent magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain. We found no statistically significant difference in ^{99m}Tc-labeled WBC uptake between CH patients in active period and controls. Furthermore CH patients in active period were not significantly different in uptake compared to CH patients in remission.

Study IV

We investigated the role of nitric oxide (NO) in CH, by measuring its oxidation products, nitrite and nitrate, in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). We collected CSF from 14 episodic CH patients. Lumbar puncture was performed at two occasions: in active period between headache attacks, and in remission, not earlier than three weeks after their last headache attack. Eleven healthy volunteers served as controls. To estimate NO production, we determined the levels of NOoxidation end products (NOx), that is, the sum of nitrite and nitrate, by using capillary electrophoresis (CE). CH patients in active period had significantly increased NOx levels compared with those in remission and control subjects. CH patients had also significantly enhanced NOx levels in remission compared to control subjects.

Keywords: Cluster Headache, gene expression, inflammation, WBC-SPECT, nitric oxide.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- Christina Sjöstrand, Kristina Duvefelt, <u>Anna Steinberg</u>, Ingela Nilsson Remahl, Elisabet Waldenlind, Jan Hillert.
 Gene Expression Profiling in Cluster Headache: A Pilot Microarray Study.
 Headache 2006 Nov-Dec; 46(10):1518-34
- Anna Steinberg, Christina Sjöstrand, Ajith Sominanda, Anna Fogdell-Hahn, Ingela Nilsson Remahl.
 Interleukin-2 gene expression in different phases of episodic cluster headache – a pilot study.
 Acta Neurol Scand. 2010 Sep 29. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2010.01434.x. [Epub ahead of print]
- III. <u>Anna Steinberg</u>, Rimma Axelsson, Lars Ideström, Susanne Müller, Ingela Nilsson Remahl.
 White blood cell SPECT during active period of Cluster Headache and in remission. Accepted for publication in European Journal of Neurology
- IV. <u>Anna Steinberg</u>, N Peter Wiklund, Lou Brundin, Ingela Nilsson Remahl. Levels of nitric oxide metabolites in cerebrospinal fluid in cluster headache. Cephalalgia 2010 Jun; 30(6):696-702

ABBREVIATIONS

BBB	Blood brain barrier				
CE	Capillary electrophoresis				
CGRP	Calcitonin gene related peptide				
СН	Cluster Headache				
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid				
DBS	Deep brain stimulation				
GCA	Giant cell arthritis				
GCOS	Gene Chip® Operating Software (Affymetrix)				
IL-2	Interleukin-2				
IQR	Interquartile range				
LP	Lumbar puncture				
MM	Mismatch				
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging				
MP-RAGE	Magnetization-prepared rapid gradient echo				
NO	Nitric oxide				
NOS	Nitric oxide synthases				
eNOS	Endothelial NOS				
iNOS	Inducible NOS				
nNOS	Neuronal NOS				
NOx	NO-oxidation end products; nitrite and nitrate				
ONS	Occipital nerve stimulation				
PET	Positron emission tomography				
PM	Perfect Match				
ROI	Region of interest				
Q-RT-PCR	Quantitative Real-time polymerase chain reaction				
^{99m} TC-LABELED WBC	^{99m} Tecnetium-labeled white blood cells				
TNC	Trigeminal nucleus caudalis				
TVS	Trigeminovascular system				
WBC-SPECT	White blood cell single photon emission computer tomography				
VIP	Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide				

INTRODUCTION

Clinical description of cluster headache (CH)

Cluster Headache is an extremely painful headache disorder characterized by periods (clusters) of recurrent, unilateral attacks of excruciating pain with a retro-orbital maximum. The attack duration varies from 15 - 180 minutes¹. CH usually appears between 20 and 65 years of age² and during active phase the attacks occur from once every second day to 8 times a day. Most patients show ipsilateral symptoms; conjunctival injection, lacrimation, nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, eyelid oedema, forehead/facial sweating, miosis and/or ptosis, indicating ipsilateral autonomic dysfunction. Episodic CH occurs in periods lasting between 7 days to 1 year, separated by pain-free periods, lasting 1 month or longer. About 10 % of the patients develop chronic CH without remission periods¹.

Epidemiology

An established estimation of the prevalence of CH, i.e. the proportion of the population with current CH, is almost 0.1%, $(70-90/100.000)^2$. A similar prevalence was reported in a survey of 18-year old Swedish men, $0.09\%^3$ and in an Italian study, around 0.07% (56-69 per $100.000)^4$.

A *lifetime* prevalence, i.e. the proportion of the population with previous or current CH, of 0.38%, was found in a study from Vågå, Norway, in which the diagnosis was made by face-to-face interviews⁵. These higher prevalence data are supported by the result from the Swedish twin registry, showing a lifetime prevalence of 0.2%⁶. CH is rare in children².

CH is more common in men. Earlier studies have shown a male: female ratio 5-6:1^{5, 7}, but over the last years this dominance has been reported to be less prominent, 2.5-3.5:1⁸. This change may be caused by a higher observance for the disorder in women, life style changes, or unknown factors.

Genetic aspects

Until recently CH was regarded as a sporadic rather than an inherited disorder. Data from family and twin studies have suggested a heritable component, and it has been estimated that first-degree relatives of CH patients have a 5-18 times and second-degree relatives 1-3 times higher risk to develop CH than the general population⁸⁻¹⁰. The variation of the reported risk can partly be explained by methodological differences. Studies from segregation analysis have suggested than an autosomal dominant gene with incomplete penetrance occur in some families and an autosomal recessive inheritance in others¹¹.

The calcium channel gene (CACNA1A) was in focus for genetic research in neurological diseases around ten years ago, because of mutations in the gene found to be responsible for several episodic neurologic disorders, e.g. familial hemiplegic migraine. The CACNA1A gene has also been studied in CH, but has been judged to be of minor importance^{12, 13}.

The role of NO in CH pathophysiology has been extensively discussed. In an association study of 91 CH patients and 111 matched controls, polymorphism of three NOS genes (nNOS, iNOS, and eNOS) were studied. No significant genetic differences between patients and controls regarding NOS were found¹⁴.

PET studies have established that hypothalamus has a pivotal role in CH¹⁵. As a consequence, genes involved in regulation of the circadian rhythm have been of interest. The hypocretin neuropeptides, hypocretin-1(orexin-A) and hypocretin-2 (orexin-B), are expressed in a small population of neurons in the lateral hypothalamus and project into all brain regions. They interact with two receptors; HCRTR1 and HCRTR2^{8, 9}. A positive association study was published in 2004, when a highly significant association between the 1246G>A polymorphism of the HCRTR2 gene and CH was found^{8, 9}. Thereafter several

genetic studies have been performed regarding the HCRTR2 gene, with divergent results. Two of these studies indicate an association between the HCRTR2 gene and CH^{16, 17}, while one did not¹⁸.

Pathophysiology

The pathophysiology of CH is largely unknown, but the discussion has mainly been focused around six mechanisms; vasodilation^{19, 20}, inflammation ^{21, 22}, hypothalamic dysfunction^{15, 23}, trigeminovascular system activation²⁴, autonomic system imbalance^{24, 25} and increase of nitric oxide levels^{26, 27}.

Vasodilation

The ipsilateral ophthalmic artery is shown to be markedly dilated during CH attacks²⁰, although dilation of cranial vessels is regarded to be unspecific and observed in many different headache syndromes¹⁹. Pain inducing capsaicin injection into the forehead, in headache-free volunteers, caused dilation of cranial vessels, probably mediated by the trigeminoparasympathetic reflex¹⁹.

Early observations of precipitation of CH by vasodilators such as alcohol, histamine²⁸⁻³⁰ and nitroglycerine³¹ suggested that vasodilation may be essential for the generation of the pain during attacks. Subsequently, cerebral blood flow studies^{32, 33} were unable to support a primary role of vasodilation in CH¹⁹, although vasodilation may be involved as a pathophysiological step towards generation of pain. Critical steps may be activation of the trigeminal vascular system leading to vasodilation, protein extravasation, neurogenic inflammation and sensitizing of meningeal receptors^{24, 34}.

Inflammation

Inflammation is characterized by five cardinal signs; redness, heat, swelling, pain and loss of function. Marked vascular changes, including vasodilation and increased permeability, which are induced by the actions of various inflammatory mediators, make it possible for WBC to migrate out into the tissue³⁵.

In the clinical routine care corticosteroids usually have a positive effect when CH patients suffer from frequent CH attacks, suggesting a role for immunological mechanisms in the disease. Earlier studies on inflammatory mechanisms have shown partially conflicting results. Transient recurrent venous vasculitis in the cavernous sinus has been suggested by some authors ^{22,36}. One study of episodic CH patients showed neither clinical symptoms nor changes in routine laboratory tests in support of a systematic inflammatory disorder³⁷. Another study showed a trend of an immune response that reacted differently than healthy volunteers and patients with active biopsy-verified giant cell arthritis (GCA). Pro-inflammatory adhesion molecules appeared down-regulated during active CH period and up-regulated during remission, while a reverse pattern was observed among patients with GCA³⁸. Several other studies have also shown changes in immune competent factors^{21, 39, 40}.

Potential inflammatory involvement in CH has been further supported by imaging studies. Gallium-67 citrate is picked up in areas of inflammation, and Gallium SPECT has shown a lesion in the region of the cavernous sinus, which fades as the patient moves out of cluster⁴¹. Another Gallium SPECT study, however, has shown that increased parasellar activity on Gallium SPECT was neither specific for CH, nor for the active period of episodic CH⁴².

Inflammation is normally accompanied by the extravasation of plasma proteins into the surrounding tissue. The hypothesis of a sterile inflammation in the cavernous sinus of CH patients was first tested in year 2000 with radiolabelled human serum albumin (^{99m}Tc-HSA) uptake and SPECT/MRI by Goebel et al ⁴³ who reported albumin leakage into the cavernous sinus ipsilaterally to the pain in CH patients during active CH period. A subsequent study by Schuh-Hofer et al in 2006, however, using the same technique, were

8

unable to confirm these findings, since no statistically significant difference was seen between the ^{99m}Tc-HSA uptake in the ipsilateral cavernous sinus before and after induction of a CH attack and there was no evidence of ^{99m}Tc-HSA extravasation in the cavernous sinus in active period compared with remission phase ⁴⁴.

The role of neurogenic inflammation by release of vasoactive peptides, such as calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP) and substance P, from trigeminal fibers has received increased attention over the years^{24, 25, 45}.

Hypothalamic activation

CH attacks tend to occur with circadian rhythmicity; consequently hypothalamus is thought to be involved in CH pathophysiology, being regarded as the place of the "biological clock". Hormonal studies have shown alterations in plasma levels of melatonin, cortisol, testosterone, prolactine, growth hormone, gonadotrophins and thyrotropins in CH patients compared with controls, indicating that hypothalamus is involved in CH^{23, 46-48}. PET-studies have shown activation of hypothalamic ipsilateral grey matter in patients who had acute attacks, which has been interpreted as a dysfunction in hypothalamus in CH patients ¹⁵. Morphometric studies using functional MRI have also observed an increased volume of the grey matter of the corresponding area in hypothalamus⁴⁹.

Trigeminovascular system activation

The trigeminovascular system (TVS) includes neurons located within the trigeminal ganglion that projects both peripherally and centrally. At the peripheral level, the trigeminal nerve innervates pain-sensitive supratentorial structures such as main arteries and dura mater. Centrally projecting fibers synapse in the brain stem, principally in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis (TNC). In migraine it is hypothesized that dysfunction in the brainstem may cause dilation of arteries

innervated by the trigeminal nerve. This might lead to plasma protein extravasation, neurogenic inflammation and sensitizing of meningeal receptors. Subsequently, a trigeminal sensory pain response will be activated, in which signals are transferred to the brainstem, and further on to thalamus and the cortical areas, resulting in the experience of pain. A release of vasoactive peptides, such as calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP) and substance P, from trigeminal fibers accelerates the neurogenic inflammation and vasodilation ^{50, 51}. For CH the principal TVS mechanism might be similar to that in migraine, with the exception that the "start focus" probably is situated in the hypothalamus. CGRP is a marker of the TVS and increased levels have been found in blood from the external jugular vein during CH attacks, which the authors conclude as an evidence for activation of the TVS ²⁴.

Autonomic nervous system imbalance

During CH attacks most patients suffer from autonomic symptoms such as ipsilateral lacrimation, conjunctival injection, nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, miosis and ptosis.

Ipsilateral lacrimation, conjunctival injection, nasal congestion and rhinorrhoea are caused by activation of the cranial parasympathetic outflow from the seventh cranial nerve²⁵. There is also evidence that the severity of pain is correlated with the autonomic symptoms and the pain itself may trigger these symptoms⁵². Markedly raised levels of vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) have been measured during spontaneous CH attacks²⁴. These findings were considered as evidence of involvement of the cranial parasympathetic nervous system. Sympathetic impairment with ipsilateral miosis and ptosis are also common, and believed to be due to transient injury of the postganglionic fibres²⁵. Some authors have suggested that the sympathetic symptoms may be caused by periorbital venous vasculitis, compromising the carotid canal and consequently the transversing sympathetic fibers^{22, 36}. The autonomic dysregulation in CH might also originate centrally in association with a hypothalamic disturbance^{53, 54}.

Increase of Nitric oxide levels

The role of nitric oxide (NO) in CH has been discussed over the latest years. NO is synthesized from L-arginine by a family of enzymes, the nitric oxide synthases (NOS). NO diffuses freely across membranes²⁶ and has multiple functions in the body. For example NO prevent platelet activation, inhibit monocyte adhesion and leucocyte function. Further on it is an important neurotransmitter and the L-arginine NO-pathway regulates the vascular tone acting as a potent vasodilator⁵⁵. NO diffuses into vascular smooth muscle cells and causes vasodilation⁵⁶. Apart from regulating blood flow, NO is thought to play a role in processing sensory information^{57, 58} and pain sensitisation⁵⁹. In the trigeminal ganglion, CGRP and nitric oxide synthases (NOS) co-localize in many neurons⁶⁰. It has been suggested that NO causes release of CGRP⁶¹, but other studies have not confirmed this result^{62, 63}. It is also possible that CGRP is causing release of NO. In the human forearm, CGRP-induced dilation was partly inhibited by a NOS inhibitor⁶⁴. Increased NO levels may also be an expression of enhanced inflammatory activity⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷.

D'Amico et al. demonstrated enhanced nitrite-levels in plasma among CH patients, both in active period and in remission²⁶. The authors suggested that a basal hyperfunction of the L-arginine-NO pathway may occur in both phases of CH, while a later study was unable to confirm those results⁵⁶.

TREATMENT

Since the CH attacks are extremely painful there is usually a need for both acute and prophylactic medication. The utmost aim is to get the patient attackfree during a bout of cluster attacks by prophylactic medication. This is difficult, since there is no one solution that fits all. Some patients even choose to be without prophylactic medication, if the CH attacks are sparse, or because of side effects.

Acute treatment

Because of the rapid onset, the severe intensity of the CH attacks and often short attack duration, fast acting acute therapy is needed. The acute treatment includes primarily sumatriptan injection, triptan nasal sprays or 100 % oxygen inhalation. The most effective acute treatments are sumatriptan injection ⁶⁸. In a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial, the 5-HT_{1B/1D} receptor agonist sumatriptan injected subcutaneously was effective in about 75 % of all CH patients, i.e. patients were pain-free within 20 minutes^{69, 70}.

Triptan nasal sprays have a slower time of onset, than sumatriptan injection. Nevertheless many CH patients use triptan nasal sprays since they wish to avoid injections. Orally administered acute medications tend in most cases to be ineffective, since they do not give effect fast enough. The mechanism of action for triptans has been related to inhibition of CGRP release from trigeminal neurons in vitro^{62, 71} and inhibition of CGRP induced vasodilation in vivo⁷⁴. Contraindications to sumatriptan and other triptans are cardio- and cerebrovascular disorders and untreated arterial hypertension.

In CH, oxygen treatment has an obvious role, since it can safely be used in patients with cardio- and cerebrovascular disorders. Oxygen inhalation has no known side-effects. Disadvantage of oxygen treatment, however, are that the effect is moderate particularly for severe attacks and patients must have access to the oxygen cylinder and regulator, which is often impractical. In a smaller study, CH patients were treated with 100% oxygen and were released from cluster pain in 75% within 15 minutes⁷². The results were later confirmed in a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled crossover trial⁷³. The mechanism of oxygen treatment is regarded as a vasoconstrictor effect^{74, 75}.

Prophylactic treatment

Among several options for prophylactic treatment verapamil is generally accepted as the first choice⁷⁶. Around 70% of CH patients have satisfactory effect of verapamil, with an individual improvement of more than 75% ⁷⁷. CH patients often need high verapamil doses compared to other indications, probably because the cardiovascular effects are directly related to blood levels of verapamil, whereas the effect on CH takes place across the blood brain barrier (BBB)⁷⁸. Verapamil easily crosses the BBB, although a P-glycoprotein restricts the brain uptake of verapamil by transporting it out of the brain⁷⁸. An ECG is required before start of treatment, since there is a risk for development of atrioventricular block and symptomatic bradycardia in susceptible patients⁷⁹. Verapamil is a calcium channel blocker, but the mechanism of action in CH is not clarified. A calcium channelopathy has been proposed to be a part of CH pathophysiology. Although verapamil is described as an L-type calcium blocker, the drug has possible effects on a range of other calcium channels, probably present in hypothalamus, the supposed centre of origin of CH pathophysiology⁷⁸. Of the three isoforms of NO-synthases (NOS), nNOS, eNOS and iNOS, the activities of the first two are regulated by calcium-dependent influx into the cells⁸⁰. In contrast, iNOS is calcium-independent, and the enzyme is not expressed unless the cells have been stimulated for example by certain cytokines like interferon-gamma and interleukin-1⁸¹. A potential mechanism of action of verapamil would be inhibition of the calcium-dependent isoforms nNOS and eNOS which would support a pathophysiological role of nitric oxide in CH.

When the CH attacks appear extremely often (5-8 times/day), the pain situation is intolerable. In this situation steroid medication is normally preferred, in order to achieve a rapid control of attacks. Usually 500 mg metylprednisone is

given intravenously over 3-5 days, followed by oral prednisone during 2-3 weeks. It is necessary to keep the steroid treatment short to avoid side-effects ⁶⁸.

Lithium carbonate is effective as a prophylactic drug, particularly for chronic cases, but has side-effects as hypothyroidism, tremor and renal dysfunction. Therefore, close control is needed to measure plasma lithium, renal and thyroid function⁶⁸.

Other prophylactic drugs are pizotifen, methyserigide and anti-epileptic drugs for example topiramate and valproate.

Surgical treatment

Surgical treatment should be considered with caution, because no longterm observational data exist yet. For intractable CH when all medical therapy has failed, surgery might be an alternative. In some cases, blockade of the occipital nerve is effective and occipital nerve stimulation (ONS) could be a choice. The mechanisms of action for ONS are not clear, but PET studies have shown effects on central pain-modulating centres ⁸². ONS may also have direct impact on nociceptive neuronal activity in the trigeminal nucleus caudalis ⁸³. Deep brain stimulation (DBS) of the posterior inferior hypothalamus has also been shown to be effective in nearly 60% of medically refractory chronic cluster headache patients⁸⁴

AIMS

The overall objective of this thesis was to explore the participation of inflammation and nitric oxide in the pathophysiology of CH.

Based on this, the specific objectives were:

- To identify differentially expressed genes during different clinical phases of CH.
- To investigate cytokine interleukin-2 (IL-2) as a possible marker of immune system involvement in the pathophysiology of CH.
- To investigate if CH patients show signs of intracranial inflammation, with recruitment of white blood cells from the peripheral blood, when using white blood cell single photon emission computer tomography (WBC-SPECT).
- To investigate nitric oxide (NO) in CH by measuring its stable oxidation end products (NOx), nitrite and nitrate, in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and controls

Only patients with episodic CH according to the IHS criteria¹ in active period were included in the studies. Episodic CH is defined as attacks occurring in periods lasting 7 days to 1 year separated by pain-free periods lasting 1 month or longer. Chronic CH is defined as CH attacks occurring for more than 1 year without remission or with remissions lasting less than 1 month ¹. All patients were followed with several phone interviews during the studies to check their CH "status". This was important to enable separation of active period from remission, and to exclude patients who developed chronic CH. The phone calls were also a tool to prevent drop outs.

Patients were defined in all studies as in active phase if they had repeated attacks during the last 4 days, and as in remission if no attacks had occurred within at least three weeks, except for Study III where absence of attacks within at least two weeks were regarded as in remission. The reason for the shorter time frame in Study III was logistical difficulties in the planning of repeated SPECT examinations and the need to avoid drop outs. To be included in all studies the patients had to be free from prophylactic treatment for at least three days before the study started. Patients started to scale down the medication a week before study start.

All four studies had a longitudinal design, where the patients were examined in different phases of CH. Healthy controls were mainly members of the staff or other colleagues in study I, II and IV. In study III control subjects were recruited in connection with a routine SPECT examination, since the local Radiation Safety Committee would not admit healthy controls. The number of control subjects in study III was restricted due to the fact that almost all patients who came for routine SPECT had anti-inflammatory medication or antibiotics.

16

All studies were approved by the regional Ethics Committee and all patients provided their informed consent.

The patient characteristics are listed in Figure 1.

Patient No	Gender	Age at inclusion	Prophylaxis before inclusion	Included in Study No
1	Male	46	No	1,11
2	Male	40	No	1,11
3	Male	38	Verapamil	1,11
4	Male	39	No	II,III,IV
5	Male	63	No	11
6	Female	54	No	II,IV
7	Male	39	No	11
8	Female	54	No	II
9	Female	33	Verapamil	III,IV
10	Male	50	No	III,IV
11	Male	48	No	111
12	Male	31	Pizotifen	111
13	Female	32	No	111
14	Male	68	Verapamil	111
15	Male	40	Verapamil	111
16	Male	63	No	111
17	Male	26	No	111
18	Male	26	No	111
19	Male	37	No	111
20	Male	37	Topiramate	111
21	Male	67	Verapamil	111
22	Male	51	No	IV
23	Male	56	No	IV
24	Female	37	Verapamil	IV
25	Female	53	Verapamil	IV
26	Male	46	No	IV
27	Male	38	No	IV
28	Male	49	No	IV
29	Male	46	No	IV
30	Male	42	Verapamil	IV
31	Male	63	No	IV

Figure 1: Patient characteristics

Inclusion criteria in Study I-IV

- 1. Episodic CH
- 2. Active CH period during inclusion
- 3. No prophylactic treatment for at least three days before study start
- 4. Compliance regarding treatment
- 5. Able to understand and follow instructions
- 6. Willing to attend complementary examinations during remission
- 7. Able to speak Swedish or English

Patients had to be excluded for the following reasons: demanding workload in combination with active, excruciating CH; inadequate compliance regarding medication or logistical requirements; or symptoms in spontaneous regress before study start. Other patients who were included could not bear to be without prophylactic treatment. It is notable that the attack frequency rose markedly when patients during active bouts were withdrawn from prophylactic treatment. Retired patients, patients who were on sick leave and patient with irregular working hours were easier to include than others. For inclusion in the studies, an active phase was required, although the number of attacks could vary. An important factor was logistic demands and the life around patients. It is notable that the dropout frequency was rather high (Study II: 4 patients. Study III: 11patients. Study IV: 8 patients). In study I there were no drop outs, but two patients were withdrawn due to poor RNA quality. The reasons for the dropouts varied, but a main problem was that patients did not shift into remission during the study time. Four patients in study IV, who developed postpunctional headache, did not want to go through a second LP in remission.

CH phases studied

- 1. Active phase between attacks Study I-IV
- 2. Active phase during attacks Study I II
- 3. Remission Study I-IV

Methods

- 1. *Study I:* Global gene expression in venous blood by use of PAXgene Blood RNA system, microarray and quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) technologies.
- 2. Study II: Gene expression of Interleukin-2 (IL-2) in venous blood by use of PAXgene Blood RNA system and RT-PCR technology.
- 3. *Study III:* White blood cell uptake in defined regions of interest in the brain by the use of single photon emission computer tomography (WBC-SPECT) and neuro-navigation with MRI.
- 4. *Study IV:* Nitric oxide levels in cerebrospinal fluid by use of capillary electrophoresis.

The PAXgene Blood RNA system

Gene expression was studied in the first two publications. The physiological RNA instability results in rapid RNA degradation in blood samples^{85, 86}. The PAXgene Blood RNA system is a method that preserves the RNA expression profile during and immediately after blood is drawn. The method is used for isolation of cellular RNA from whole blood. The stabilisation reagent contains a cationic detergent that is known to penetrate blood cells and interact with intracellular anionic species, including nucleic acids. Once blood is drawn into the PAXgene tube, the detergent rapidly lyses red blood cells and enters white blood cells and forms stable complexes. RNA is there for extracted from total

cells (i.e. both RBC and WBC)⁸⁷. The cellular RNA profile may remain stable for up to 5 days at room temperature⁸⁶.

The influence of time on the quantity of complementary DNA (cDNA) using the PAXgene collection tubes was tested. Four blood samples from one single, healthy donor were collected into PAXgene tubes, and then left in room temperature for 2-12 hours before they were stored at 8°C until further processed. RNA was extracted according to the manufacturer's recommendations day 1, day 2, day 4 and day 5 after sampling. The extracted RNA from all samples was stored at - 70°C. The concentration of RNA was determined by ultraviolet absorbance at 260 nm. RNA was converted to cDNA using reverse transcriptase, since cDNA is more stable than RNA⁸⁸. The quantity of mRNA expression was measured with real time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) technique⁸⁹. The test showed that the quantity of cDNA was maintained at an approximately constant level during 5 days following the blood sampling.

Microarray technology

This method has the ability to measure the level of expression for thousands of genes in one sample. The approach is screening rather than hypothesis driven. We have used Affymetrix-chip in study I (Affymetrix Human Genome U133 2.0 Plus GeneChip®). An Affymetrix-chip consist of 1.3 million⁹⁰ minimal squares, shared over an area of about 1 cm². Every square consist of different sets of probes. (A probe is a labeled bit of DNA/ RNA used to find its complementary sequence). The Affymetrix-chip is constructed of single-stranded 25 base pairs oligonucleotides synthesized for hybridization to complementary single-stranded cDNA, from the target tissue. While using extremely large amounts of identical probes in each square on the chip, the probability increases that complementary cDNA (the sample) hybridizates. The cDNA incorporates a detection reagent, a fluorescent dye. After hybridization the chip is scanned by a laser. The level of the hybridized probe will correspond to the amount of the cDNA. The oligonucleotides are synthesized in situ and located on the chip with extreme precision. The method is light-directed and is named photolithography⁹¹. A gene is represented on the chip by 11-20 unique probe pairs of 25 base pairs oligonucleotides. The probe pairs are designed as a Perfect Match (PM) and Mismatch (MM). The MM probes serve as control for hybridization⁹¹.

20

The advantages with the Microarray technology are obvious. With this method it is possible to receive information from a small amount of sample, regarding gene expression, about many thousands of genes. Due to the large amounts of results, this method can have a screening approach i.e. work as a generator of hypotheses.

Disadvantages with the method are that high quality RNA is needed for reliable results and the high risk of false positive results when performing multiple testing. It might also be that not all observed intensities are associated with expressed genes, it could e.g. be noise due to non-specific binding or cross-hybridization⁹².

Before statistical analyses starts, the data have to go through several steps of quality control:

<u>Quality control 1</u>: Total RNA quantity was determined by ultraviolet absorbance at 260 nm. The purity of the isolated RNA was determined by measuring the ratio of absorbance at 260 and 280 nm.

<u>Quality control 2</u>: The signal intensity of all probes on each chip was scaled to a single value, 100, to allow comparisons between samples.

<u>Quality control 3</u>: A quality control of reversed transcriptase. After hybridization the ratio between probe sets located in the 3' and 5' end, are counted for the control genes β -actin and GAPDH.

<u>Quality control 4</u>: The PM/MM system. For each gene a set of paired oligonucleotide probes are designed. Each pair contains both a perfect match probe of the gene (a canonical sequence), and a mismatch probe (a mutation). The mismatch probe measures the degree of cross hybridization, i.e. false positive signals.

21

Quantitative Real-time polymerase chain reaction (Q-RT-PCR)

Q-RT-PCR is a well-established and powerful method to quantify gene expression. With this method very small changes/differences in PCR products can be quantified. The method can be used to quantify DNA levels of for example viral infections and for gene expression analyses. To measure gene expression, mRNA is isolated and converted to cDNA before analysis. There are two different method of Q-RT-PCR; absolute and relative quantification⁸⁹.

When using absolute quantification the input transcript is determined with the use of a standard curve. In contrast, when using relative quantification the change in gene expression is compared to a reference gene (endogenous control). By using an endogenous control as a reference, quantification of mRNA can be normalized for differences in the amount of total RNA added to each reaction. Results are given as a dimensionless normalized ratio.

To preserve the instant level of mRNA blood can be drawn with the PAXgene system described above, which includes RNA stabilizing buffer. mRNA is then converted to cDNA by the enzyme reverse transcriptase. The cDNA is subsequently amplified in the exponential PCR process, where the amplified product is recorded at each PCR cycle. Normally a high number (often 40) of repeated PCR are used in the Q-RT-PCR⁹³.

A PCR cycle contains a raise of the temperature to melt the double stranded cDNA or DNA, creating single stranded DNA that are used as new templates. The temperature of the reaction is then lowered, to enable the oligonucleotide primers to anneal to the new single stranded DNA. (primer=nucleic acid strand that serves as a starting point for DNA replication) The enzyme DNA polymerase will then initiate elongation of DNA by adding single complementary nucleotides, whereby a new double stranded DNA is created⁹⁴.

The final step is detection and quantification and there are several different methods for this. One example is when a DNA-based probe, complementary to the target nucleic acid molecule, is used. The probe is supplied with a fluorescent marker in one end and a quencher at the other end. When the DNA polymerase reaches the probe during the annealing stage, the fluorophore and quencher are separated, resulting in a light of fluorescence, which is detected in every PCR cycle⁹⁵.

Q-RT-PCR is a stable method, but of course there are limitations, e.g. RNA is extremely labile and care has to be taken to avoid contamination with nucleases.

White blood cell single photon emission computer tomography (WBC-SPECT)

Tomographic techniques are giving cross-section images of the studied subject. When using SPECT the emitted gamma emission from the patient is counted in several well-known three-dimensional directions. For the purpose of studying white blood cell distribution in the body, these can be labelled with ¹¹¹Indium or ^{99m}Tecnetium. The latter is more preferable because of shorter investigation time and lower radiation burden to the patient. The SPECT images are usually acquired over 180° or 360 ° in small angular steps. Thereafter the concentration of activity can be calculated⁹⁶.

A balance must always be kept between resolution and sensitivity. Those qualities are competitive, and both are influenced by the choice of collimator. The collimator is often produced by lead and consists of several openings. Photons which are sent from the radionuclide have the same probability for all emission directions. A gamma camera without collimator cannot produce images, since the incoming directions of photons are not known. A collimator filters incoming photons and creates information about incoming directions ⁹⁶. The construction of the collimator influences the resolution and sensitivity of the gamma camera, so that small openings in the collimator generate higher resolution and lower sensitivity. The distance between the gamma camera and the patient also influences the resolution of the images; the shorter the distance, the better the resolution⁹⁶.

The following is a schedule for a WBC-SPECT:

- The patient leaves a blood sample
- White blood cells are separated and labeled with ^{99m}Tecnetium.
- The blood sample with the ^{99m}Tecnetium-labeled WBC (^{99m}Tc-labeled WBC) are re-infused to the patient
- WBC migrates, besides the sites of physiological accumulation, to regions of inflammation
- A gamma camera register the radiation from the ^{99m}Tecnetium-labeled WBC in the brain after 2 hours

The ^{99m}Tecnetium-labeled re-injected WBC behaves like the native WBC and is distributed into a bound and a circulating part. Around 45 minutes after reinjection, balance has been reached and 40% of the injected activity is in the circulating blood and the rest of activity is equally distributed to the liver, spleen, lungs and bone marrow. Uptake in inflammatory regions is fast⁹⁷.

All CH patients and control patients in study III underwent an MRI of the brain to enable precisely anatomically defined regions of interest (ROI:s). All WBC-SPECT-studies were fused with the corresponding MRI using Hermes software (Hermes/NUD, Stockholm, Sweden). ROI:s were manually drawn on the MRI-images using anatomical borders without visual access to the WBC-SPECT-images. SPECT images only are not sufficient for defining ROI:s due to the lack of anatomical landmarks and absence of high specific binding.

Capillary electrophoresis

In study IV we intended to investigate the role of NO in CH, by measuring its oxidation products (NOx); nitrite and nitrate, in the CSF. The reason for not measuring NO directly was that NO has a very short half-life, just 3-5 seconds⁸¹. To estimate NO production, we determined the levels of NOx by using capillary electrophoresis (CE). An advanced technique for the analysis of ions^{98, 99}. The ions are separated on the bases of their charge ratio and allow individual detection of nitrite and titrate. CE has been shown to quantify nitrite and nitrate in biological fluids close to the millimolar (mM) range¹⁰⁰. The main components in CE are sample vial, source and destination vials, a capillary, electrodes, a high voltage power supply, a detector and computer, see Figure 2. The source vial, destination vial and capillary are filled with an electrolyte. The migration of the ions starts when the electric field is applied between the source and destination vials. A small volume of sample is injected at the positive end of the capillary and separated ions are detected near the negative end of the capillary. The output of the detector is sent to a computer⁹⁸ (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Diagram of CE system. (From Capillary Electrophoresis reference¹⁰¹)

Statistics

Study I

The Affymetrix GeneChip® Operating Software (GCOS) version 1.0 was used for initial raw data processing. For comparison of different normalisation methods we used the Robust Multichip Average method¹⁰² implemented in the module Affy of the BioConductor microarray analysis software. For the relative gene expression levels, the GCOS Expression algorithm was used for transcript quantification and microarray data comparison.

To enable identification of up- and downregulated genes between chip pairs, pairwise comparisons on signal values from different disease stages (period between attack, attack, remission) and controls were performed. Totally 6 comparative analyses were performed. All samples were analysed in triplicates. A transcript had to be replicated as either increased or as decreased in all three samples to be regarded as a signal change.

All probe IDs were checked against Affymetrix annotations, Netaffx analysis and annotation center at <u>www.affymetrix.com/analysis/netaffx</u>.

Fischer's exact test was used for comparisons of selected genes within a group of genes, upregulated S100 genes, compared to all genes represented on the chip.

Statistical analysis on gene expression from the RT-PCR were performed between the disease stages (period between attack, attack, remission) by paired ANOVA, followed by Tukey-Kramer post test for multiple comparisons. P<0.05 was chosen to indicate statistical significance.

Study II

Comparisons of relative IL-2 gene expression levels were performed by the use of Friedman's ANOVA. Wilcoxon matched pairs tests were performed for dependent samples and Mann-Whitney U test for independent samples. P<0.05 was chosen to indicate statistical significance.

Study III

A Mann-Whitney U test was used to investigate the difference in uptake between CH and control subjects. A Wilcoxon Matched Pairs test was used to compare the uptake in CH patients in active period and in remission and at pain side and non-pain side of cavernous sinuses. Both tests were implemented in Statistica 9.0 (StatSoft. Inc, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA). Data were analyzed on the 2 h post injection acquisitions. The significance level for statistical testing was taken p<0.05.

Study IV

Student's t-test was used as we regarded the data to be normally distributed. A p-value of 0.05 was considered significant. Non-parametric test were also performed.

RESULTS

Study I

Altogether small differences were seen intraindividually and large differences interindividually. Pairwise comparisons of signal values from different disease phases and controls, comparisons between different phases in the same individuals and between patients and matched controls, generated evidence of relatively few regulated genes. Results are presented as fold change in a log2 ratio. The results are shown in Table 2, in study I.

All raw data are available at <u>http://www.ebi.ac.uk/arrayexpress/browse.html?</u> <u>keywords=human+cluster+headache&expandefo=on</u>.

The most apparent finding was the upregulation of several calcium binding S100 genes; S100A8, S100A12, and S100P; during active period and attacks compared to remission (except for S100A12, which did not show upregulation during attacks). The S100A8 and S100A12 are considered markers of non-infectious inflammatory disease, while the function of S100P has been connected to different forms of cancer¹⁰³.

Moreover, Annexin 3 (also S100 protein like) was upregulated during attacks compared to remission. So were also ICAM3 and TNFRSF10C. The latter, TNFRSF10C is a member of the tumour necrosis family of genes, where all regulate cytokines. ICAM3 is an adhesion molecule, which is also regarded to be involved in the immune system.

Fisher's exact test was used for comparison of the S100 genes compared to all genes on the chip (~22 000 genes) which revealed an upregulation for period versus remission (p <0.0001), and for attack versus remission (p=0.00037). There were no significant differences for this transcript in relation to controls.

The upregulation of S100P could be confirmed with RT-PCR. The test showed significant differences between attacks and remission (p=0.048). Two patients had a higher expression level during period compared to attacks, but still both were higher compared to remission. Comparisons of all groups revealed significant differences between attacks and remission (p=0.025), see Figure 3. Patients in period showed no significant difference compared to remission and to controls (p=0.664 and p= 0.0146, respectively). Comparison of means between attack and controls was considered non-significant (p= 0.089.) The comparison between remission and controls was also considered not significant (p=0.15). The results were corresponding with the result from the microarray analysis, i.e. changes in S100P expression were seen within the same patients but not significantly in relation to controls, both in the microarray analysis and in the quantitative RT-PCR analysis.



Figure 3: S100P relative gene expression levels. (Relative levels to GAPDH). Comparisons of all groups showed significant differences between attacks and remission (p=0.025).

Study II

The relative gene expression of the cytokine IL-2 was studied in eight episodic CH patients and 16 healthy headache-free control subjects matched for age and gender. Venous blood samples were drawn from the CH patients on three occasions; during active period between headache attacks, during an attack and in remission. Venous blood samples were drawn once from each control subject. We analyzed IL-2 gene expression using RT-PCR.



Figure 4: Relative IL-2 Expression in different phases of Cluster Headache.(Relative levels to GAPDH). * The p-values are compared to Between attacks.

Friedman's ANOVA rejected the null hypothesis of no difference between the three phases (p=0.008). In pairwise comparisons, CH patients had significantly increased relative IL-2 gene expression values during active period between attacks (median 9.9, IQR 6.2-10.3) compared to in remission (median 1.6, IQR 0.9-1.8, p=0.017) and control subjects (median 0.9, IQR 0.6-1.9, p=0.0001). The relative IL-2 gene expression values during the active period between attacks were also significantly higher than during attacks (median 2.8, IQR 0.7-3.2, p=0.012).

A trend to higher relative IL-2 gene expression level was also noted during attacks in relation to controls and remission, although not statistically significant.

The relative IL-2 expression value was deviating in one patient. The statistical analysis was repeated after exclusion of this patient, assuming that the value was an outlier; the difference between active period, remission and controls remained statistically significant.

Relative IL-2 gene expression values among CH patients during different phases of the disorder and among healthy headache-free control subjects are presented in Fig 4.

Study III

14 CH patients and 5 control subjects were included in the study. The control subjects were all recruited in connection with a routine SPECT examination. Reasons for examination were suspected osteomyelitis in a knee or leg (2), infection around hip prostheses (1) and fever of unknown cause (2). None had signs of intracranial accumulation of white blood cells.

A first visual evaluation of the MRI fused WBC-SPECT images revealed an intensive 99mTc-labeled WBC uptake in clivus in CH patients, independently of CH period, and also in controls. By contrast a low ^{99m}Tc-labeled WBC uptake was seen in the cavernous sinuses in CH patients, independently of CH period, and also in controls.

The average labelling efficiency of WBC was 45% (range 17-72%).



Figure 5: The ^{99m}Tc-labeled WBC 2 h post injection uptake in cavernous sinus in CH patients, active phase and remission, compared to controls. Pain side indicates the side of the cavernous sinus ipsilateral to the CH attacks. Remission and controls include both sides of cavernous sinus. *p-values for comparison with pain side. **p-values for comparison with non-pain side.

The following normalised uptake was obtained for CH vs. controls, presented as median and interquartile range (cm⁻³; IQR): Cavernous sinus: 7.1 (5.0-10.3) vs. 5.6 (4.6-6.8; p=0.34), sagittal sinus: 12.4 (11.3-14.2) vs. 10.5 (10.5-11.3; p=0.09), clivus: 23.0 (14.5-30.5) vs. 24.2 (19.6-31.4; p=0.69.)

No significant differences in normalized uptake were found in any of the regions listed above, when comparing CH patients in active period and remission.

No conclusive increase of ^{99m}Tc WBC uptake at the CH pain side of the cavernous sinus compared to the non-pain side was seen. Data are presented as: pain side median uptake (cm⁻³; IQR) vs. non pain side median uptake (cm⁻³; IQR): 7.7 (5.0-11.5) vs. 6.8 (4.8-9.0), (p=0.08). The results for the cavernous sinus, comparing CH pain side versus non pain side, CH in remission and controls, are shown as a box and whisker plot in Figure 5.

In conclusion we found no significant difference in ^{99m}Tc-labeled WBC uptake at the CH pain side of the cavernous sinus compared to the non-pain side, although a trend to a higher uptake at the pain side was noted. Furthermore we found no significant difference in ^{99m}Tc-labeled WBC uptake between CH patients in active period and controls. CH patients in active period were not significantly different in uptake compared to CH patients in remission.

Study IV

In study IV we included twenty-two CH patients during active period. Throughout the study, four patients developed chronic CH and four other patients discontinued due to postpunctional headache. The final study group consisted therefore of 14 CH patients. Eleven healthy volunteers served as control subjects.

CH patients in the active period had significantly increased NOx levels (mean 9.3, 95% CI 8.5–10.1) compared with in remission (mean 7.6, 95% CI 6.9-8.2; p<0.001) and control subjects (mean 6.2, 95% CI 4.9-7.5; p<0.001). (Figure 6). A significant difference was also present between CH patients' NOx levels in remission and control subjects (p=0.034), where CH patients in remission had higher NOx levels.



Figure 6: Mean levels of nitric oxide products (NOx) in cerebrospinal fluid from episodic cluster headache patients during both phases of the disease, and also from controls

Thirteen of 14 CH patients showed higher NOx levels in the active period compared with remission.

Two of the patients had a CH attack which started as the LP was performed. Their NOx levels were 9.6 μ M and 10.3 μ M. Two other CH patients had their last attacks 24 hours before the LP, and their NOx levels were 11.3 μ M and 10.1 μ M. All four patients showed deceased NOx levels in remission.

Five patients had a nocturnal CH attack the night before the LP. The mean NOx levels were similar in this group compared with others (9.0 μ M vs. 9.7 μ M, NS).

Clinical routine laboratory analyses of CSF showed normal levels with regard to protein content and inflammatory parameters in eight of 14 patients. A minor albumin increase in CSF was seen in five patients, for two of them both in the active phase and in remission. Two patients showed a modest albumin increase only in the active phase and one patient only in remission. A slight pleocytosis was seen in one patient in both phases of the disease. One patient showed solitary oligoclonal bands in CSF and plasma in remission. Patients with abnormalities in CSF parameters had slightly higher mean NOx levels than other patients (10.0 vs. 8.8 μ M), although this difference was not statistically significant. None of the patients with changes in routine laboratory analyses presented any clinical symptoms of concomitant disease.

Seven patients, i.e. about 50% (7 of 14), developed postpunctional headache. All seven of these patients developed postpunctional headache in the active period and three of them (three of 14) also developed postpunctional headache during remission. One of these patients also showed a minor albumin increase in CSF. If the four episodic CH patients who discontinued the study due to the development of postpunctional headache are also included, the percentage of CH patients who developed postpunctional headache during the active period increases to 61%.

Finally, it was explored whether heterogeneity was present between the NO oxidation products, nitrite and nitrate, during the active period and in remission.

Nitrite and nitrate levels were compared to the total NOx levels and found to be of similar distribution.

DISCUSSION

The main objective of this thesis was to explore evidence of inflammatory involvement and the role of nitric oxide in the pathophysiology of CH. Inflammatory involvement was the focus in paper I-III and nitric oxide in paper IV.

Inflammatory involvement in CH

There are at least two major findings in this thesis which speak in favour of inflammatory involvement in CH. The first of these is the observation of upregulation of calcium binding S100 genes, such as S100A8 and S100A12 during active period and attacks, compared to in remission. These two calcium binding genes are considered markers of non-infectious inflammatory diseases. The other is the increased relative IL-2 gene expression level during active period between headache attacks compared to during attacks, remission and controls. Both these findings provide support of a non-infectious inflammatory involvement in CH pathophysiology. Our observation of an upregulation of non-infectious inflammatory genes during active period and attacks compared to remission, are in agreement with earlier studies^{21, 22, 36-41, 43}, e.g., Empl et al.²¹ who measured serum levels of soluble IL-2 receptors in 18 patients with CH and found significantly increased sIL-2R levels compared to headache-free control subjects.

The exact mechanism of a non-infectious inflammation in CH is not known, but there are several potential modes of action that may contribute. Over recent years an increased understanding has developed on the role of a neurogenic inflammation closely related to the activation of the trigeminovascular system in CH and migraine. Release of CGRP and substance P from trigeminal fibers may initiate an inflammatory reaction with plasma protein release and vasodilation^{24, 34, 104}. Involvements of white blood cells have been suggested¹⁰⁵.

Interestingly, IL-2 is vital for determining the magnitude and duration of primary and secondary immune responses, and moreover, one of its most important functions is to downregulate immune responses to protect against autoimmunity¹⁰⁶. Empl et al have shown that CH patients have significantly increased soluble IL-2 receptors in serum compared with controls²¹. Several earlier studies have shown a change in immunologically competent cells^{21, 38-40}. Our finding of an increased IL-2 expression during active periods compared to remission and controls supports the concept of inflammatory involvement in CH. We also showed that IL-2 expression was reduced during attacks compared to active periods between attacks. It can be speculated that pain attacks are related to failure of protection against autoimmunity, but an alternate possibility is that the pain itself can cause a reduced IL-2 production^{107, 108} and this issue has to be resolved by further research. In this context it is interesting that intrathecal delivery of a plasmid harbouring the IL-2 gene in rats produced a marked antinociceptive effect, which was maintained up to 6 days¹⁰⁹. Moreover, IL-2 has been reported to activate the hypothalamus and stimulate the release of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF)^{21, 110-113}.

Accumulation of white blood cells is a pivotal part of an immunological response and the documentation of white blood cell migration into the area of interest was in focus of the third paper. We decided to use a novel method in CH research with ^{99m}Tecnetium labeled white blood cells identified with SPECT in which the emitted gamma emission from the patient is counted in several predefined three-dimensional directions. MRI of the brain was used to enable precisely anatomically defined regions of interest (ROI:s).

Our analyses of white blood cells within the central nervous system did not reveal findings of statistical significance. There was a trend to a higher uptake in the part of the cavernous sinus that was ipsilateral to the pain, but this observation is not conclusive. This is also true for another trend to higher uptake in the sagittal sinus. There is a possibility that these observations occurred by chance, but also that the method we used may have been too unspecific or that the study sample size too small. Although caution has to be applied in the interpretation of findings by multiple testing of white blood cell uptake at different locations, it may be of interest for further research.

It may be interesting to note that our combination of SPECT with MRI enabled identification of uptake in clivus, which may otherwise have been interpreted as increased uptake in the cavernous sinus. The findings of Gawel et al⁴¹ who performed gallium-SPECT and found increased uptake of gallium in the region of cavernous sinus during active period could be supportive of our trend finding of increased WBC uptake in cavernous sinus, but the lack of neuroradiological navigation in their study also opened for the possibility of an influence from unspecific uptake in clivus.

Nitric oxide in CH

It is well known that administration an NO donor, such as nitroglycerin or histamine which causes release of NO from vascular sites, may induce CH-like attacks during active CH phase but not during remission⁵⁶. NO has a key role in regulating physiological functions, among these vasomotor regulation⁸¹. The isoform nNOS is expressed in most regions of the central nervous system, including the cerebellum, the cerebral cortex and various ganglion cells of the autonomic nervous system. Large numbers of nNOS-containing neurons have also been found in the hypothalamus¹¹¹.

Activation of the trigeminovascular system is considered an important step in the development of CH attacks²⁴. CGRP is a marker of this activation, and increased levels have been found in blood from the external jugular vein during spontaneous CH attacks²⁴, as well as attacks provoked by NO donors^{24, 45}. D'Amico et al. have shown increased nitrite-levels in plasma among CH patients, both in active period and in remission ²⁶. These findings, all together, indicate that there could be a link between NO, the trigeminovascular system and CH pathophysiology. We intended to evaluate the role of NO in episodic CH, by analysing NOx in CSF, closer to the supposedly affected area in the hypothalamus. To our knowledge, a similar study has not been performed earlier.

We were able to show that CH patients in active period had significantly increased NOx levels in CSF compared with those in remission and control

subjects. CH patients also had significantly enhanced NOx levels in remission compared to control subjects.

Our results are in agreement with D'Amico et al.²⁶, who found generally raised nitrite levels in plasma among CH patients, and adds support to the observation of a basal hyperactivity of the L-arginine-NO pathway.

In another study by Costa et al., nitrite and L-citrulline (a stoichiometric metabolite, resulting from the conversion of L-arginine to NO, and considered as a reliable index of NOS activity) were measured in plasma in CH patients and controls after administration of nitroglycerin. The authors found no difference between the plasma concentrations of nitrite and L-citrulline between the two groups. They concluded that the result did not support the presence of a basal hyperactivity of the L-arginine-NO pathway in CH patients⁵⁶. The discrepancy between our results and those of Costa et al. may be explained by differences in methodology. It is notable that the study of Costa et al. was performed on plasma rather than CSF, i.e. on a more remote substrate in relation to the brain. Furthermore Costa et al. studied induced attacks, while we studied spontaneous attacks.

The level of NO production has been shown to correlate with disease activity in inflammatory disorders, such as multiple sclerosis, cystitis, cerebral systemic lupus erythematosus and inflammatory bowel disease^{65-67, 114, 115}. The NOx levels in our study were higher during active period compared to remission, which correlates with our findings of increased expression of calcium binding S100 genes and IL-2 genes. This may suggest that increased NOx levels may be an expression of enhanced inflammatory activity in CH as well as in other inflammatory conditions.

CH patients might be sensitized for CH attacks by a mechanism related to high NO-levels, and at a certain threshold, the trigeminovascular system is activated. High NO-levels may contribute to and maintain a central hyperalgesia^{59, 116-118}. Possibly such a mechanism, in connection with activation of the trigeminovascular system, could be a source of the pain attacks. Interestingly, we found that headache occurring as a reaction to lumbar puncture

40

was overrepresented in CH and it can be speculated whether this is caused by sensitization secondary to enhanced NOx levels.

In the trigeminal ganglion, CGRP and NOS co-localize in many neurons⁶⁰. It has been suggested that NO causes release of CGRP^{61, 119, 120}, although there are studies with conflicting results^{62, 63}. Treatment of rat trigeminal ganglia cultures with NO donors caused a greater than four-fold increase in CGRP release compared with unstimulated cultures¹¹⁹.

Inflammation and nitric oxide – an integrated discussion

Several mechanisms participate in the pathophysiology of CH. The clinical picture with frequent CH attacks, the diurnal pattern of attacks and hormonal alterations in CH patients have pointed to a potential defect in the suprachiasmatic nucleus within the hypothalamus^{15, 23} as the center of the origin of CH. In hypothalamus large numbers of nNOS containing neurons have been found¹¹¹. One hypothesis is that hypothalamus is responsible for producing boosts of NO, initiated by the suprachiasmatic nucleus. The NO-elevation might trigger the trigeminovascular system.

One of the other cornerstones in CH pathophysiology is NO. We have shown generally raised NO levels in CSF in CH patients compared to healthy controls. The trigeminovascular system is activated in CH²⁴, and one of the consequences may be neurogenic inflammation within its distribution^{34, 104}. As mentioned above, CH patients might be sensitized for CH attacks by a mechanism related to high NO-levels, and at a certain threshold, the trigeminovascular system may be further activated. This may initiate a vicious circle, where both high NO-levels and neuropeptides, such as substance P and CGRP, contribute to a neurogenic inflammation. The excruciating pain in CH might be related to high NO-levels and release of neuropeptides, giving rise to a neurogenic inflammation with sensitization of vessels and meninges, and inducing vasodilation. CH attacks are often successfully treated with sumatriptan or oxygen⁷² both of which are thought to induce their effect by vasoconstriction, indicating that vasodilation is involved in the generation of pain.

Corticosteroids have positive therapeutic effect in CH^{25, 68}. The isoform nNOS is expressed in most regions of the central nervous system and in hypothalamus¹¹¹. The cytokine IL-2 can activate the hypothalamus and stimulate the release of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF)^{21, 110-113}, but the stimulatory effect of IL-2 on CRH release is inhibited by the corticosteroid dexamethasone^{111, 113, 121}. In addition, treatment with dexamethasone in mouse inhibits the nNOS activity¹²¹. If these observations can be translated into the human brain, dexamethasone may inhibit the generation of a vicious circle by reducing the production of NO. Subsequently, this would reduce the inflammatory activity and the activation of the trigeminal system. Many factors influence the immune system, complicating the interpretations of different interactions, such as pain, stress and other environmental factors^{107, 108}.

Limitations

In all studies there are relatively small study populations. The main reason for this is that CH is a rare episodic disorder and that patients had to be in active period for inclusion. Several patients could not be included since they would not accept to be without prophylactic treatment. There were also a number of logistical demands for the patients which made it difficult to motivate patients to join the studies.

Unfortunately in paper I two out of five patients were withdrawn from the study, due to poor RNA quality. If it had been possible to get better RNA quality in the beginning, this could of course be avoided. When we started this project RNA extraction with PAXgene tubes was a new technique. Today the method has been evaluated further and there are reports how to receive better RNA quality, by using modified protocols¹²².

In paper III measurements on three different SPECT cameras were performed due to the fact that the first camera was broken. We then had logistic problems to get time for the CH patients in the SPECT camera when they competed with clinical routine patients.

CONCLUSIONS

Based on our studies comprising in total 31 patients and 35 controls, the following conclusions can be drawn.

- Our finding of an upregulation of S100A8 and S100A12 genes in CH patients during active period may indicate an inflammatory involvement in CH, since both S100A8 and S100A12 are considered markers of noninfectious inflammatory disease.
- 2. CH patients had significantly increased relative IL-2 gene expression between headache attacks during active CH period, compared to during attacks, remission and controls. This finding adds further support on involvement of inflammation in CH. Since a prominent function of IL-2 is defense against autoimmunity, our observation also may strengthen evidence that the inflammatory involvement is of noninfectious origin.
- 3. The WBC-SPECT study did not provide statistically significant results. This might be due to the possibility that the method we used for this purpose is too unspecific, or the fact that WBC might not have a prominent role in CH. An important conclusion from the WBC-SPECT study is that MRI mapping is important to avoid misinterpretation.
- 4. We have shown that CH patients in active period had significantly increased NOx levels in CSF compared with those in remission and with control subjects. CH patients also had significantly enhanced NOx levels in remission compared to control subjects. The level of NO production has been shown to correlate with disease activity in several inflammatory disorders. This suggests that increased NOx levels in CH patients might be an expression of enhanced inflammatory activity as well as in other inflammatory conditions. A connection between those two possible

5. We hypothesize that CH patients might be sensitized for CH attacks by a mechanism related to high NO-levels, and at a certain threshold, the trigeminovascular system is activated. The high NO-levels may also contribute to a central hyperalgesia.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am happy for this opportunity to extend my gratitude to colleagues, collaborators and friends who have contributed to our research and to all patients and volunteers who participated in the studies. In particular, I would like to thank:

Associate Professor Ingela Nilsson Remahl, my main supervisor, for once introducing me into the Headache team and accepting me as a PhD student, for faithful support, numerous thoughtful comments and fruitful discussions over the years. I also appreciate our clinical work together, with all the daily questions to solve, not least within the headache area.

Associate Professor Elisabeth Waldenlind, my co-supervisor, for all support and for continuous encouragement. It has almost always been possible to pop in through Elisabeth's open door to ask a question, which I appreciate a lot. You never fail to find a solution to the most complicated problem.

Dr Mircea Oprica, my co-supervisor, for advice, encouragement and support and for always knowing which grant to apply for.

Associate Professor Anna Fogdell-Hahn, my co-supervisor, for introduction into the lab and for teaching me the RT-PCR method.

Associate Professor Karl Ekbom for support and encouragement; for lots of good advice and for always initiating stimulating discussions in the Headache group. It has been a privilege to be guided by you as one of the great pioneers in this field.

Dr Christina Sjöstrand and Medical physicist Lars Ideström for friendship, numerous discussions and helpful comments and advice.

All my other coauthors: Rimma Axelsson, Lou Brundin, Kristina Duvefelt, Jan Hillert, Susanne Müller, Ajith Sominanda and Peter Wiklund.

The members in the Headache group for the collaboration, and continuing discussions about clinical issues and research. Thanks to all members: Eva Laudon-Meyer, Bo Ersmark, Madeleine Berg, Birgitta Wallenrud, Maria Lantz and Anna Sundholm.

All nurses at the neurological wards who helped me to recruit CH patients for the studies.

I also would like to thank Anny Rydberg and Helena Ytterberg for help with collecting blood samples, and to Merja Kanerva and Faezeh Vejdani helping me at the lab.

All colleagues at the Department of Neurology, Huddinge for fruitful help with study patients at occasions, for creating such a skilled team of clinical neurologists and letting me be a part of it.

Associate Professor Göran Solders, former Head of the Department of Neurology, and Associate Professor Lars-Olof Ronnevi present Head, for giving me the opportunity to realize this project.

My parents Evald and Eva-Mia Steinberg for support and practical help during the years.

My brothers Martin Steinberg and Ola Steinberg for friendship and lots of practical support.

My sisters in law Caroline Cederlöf Steinberg and Karin Hult Steinberg, for friendship and summers together at Långholmstorp.

My beloved husband Nils for lots of love, constant support, and for sharing all the practical aspects of a life with kids.

Our children "the Flowers of my heart"; Amanda, Jacob and Jesper for your existence.

47

REFERENCES:

- 1. International Classification of Headache Disorders, 2nd Edition, Headache Classification Subcommittee of the International Headache Society. Cephalalgia 2004;24 Suppl 1 1122.
- 2. Dahlöf C, Hardebo JE. Hortons huvudvärk (Cluster Headache). In: Internetmedicin.se,: <u>http://www.internetmedicin.se/print.asp?action=print&page=495;</u> updated 2010-03-27; accessed by 2011-03-01; 2010. p. 1-3.
- 3. Ekbom K, Ahlborg B, Schele R. Prevalence of migraine and cluster headache in Swedish men of 18. Headache 1978;18(1):9-19.
- 4. Torelli P, Beghi E, Manzoni GC. Cluster headache prevalence in the Italian general population. Neurology 2005;64:469-474.
- 5. Sjaastad O, Bakketeig LS. Cluster headache prevalence. Vaga study of headache epidemiology. Cephalalgia 2003;23(7):528-533.
- 6. Ekbom K, Svensson DA, Pedersen NL, Waldenlind E. Lifetime prevalence and concordance risk of cluster headache in the Swedish twin population. Neurology 2006;67(5):798-803.
- 7. Manzoni G. Gender ratio of cluster headache over the years: a possible role of changes in lifestyle. Cephalalgia 1998;18(3):138-142.
- 8. Sjöstrand C. Genetic aspects of cluster headache. Expert Rev. Neurother. 2009;9(3):359-368.
- 9. Schürks M. Genetics of Cluster Headache. Curr Pain Headache Rep 2010;14:132-139.
- 10. Pinessi L, Rainero I, Rivoiro C, Rubino E, Gallone S. Genetics of cluster headache: an update. J Headache Pain 2005;6:234-236.
- 11. Russell M. Epidemiology and genetics of cluster headache. Lancet Neurol 2004;3:279-283.
- 12. Sjöstrand C, Giedratis V, Ekbom K, Waldenlind E, Hillert J. CACNA1A gene polymorphisms in cluster headache. Cephalalgia 2001;21:953-958.
- 13. Haan J, van Vliet JA, Kors EE et al. No involvment of the cacium channel gene (CACNA1A) in a family with cluster headache. Cephalalgia 2001;21:959-962.
- 14. Sjöstrand C, Modin H, Masterman T, Ekbom K, Waldenlind E, Hillert J. Analysis of nitric oxide synthase genes in cluster headache. Cephalalgia 2002;22:758-764.
- 15. May A, Bahra A, Büchel C, Frackowiak RSJ, Goadsby PJ. Hypothalamic activation in cluster headache attacks. Lancet 1998;352(9124):275-278.
- 16. Schürks M, Kurth T, Geissler I, Tessmann G, Diener HC, Rosskopf D. Cluster headache is associated with the G1246A polymorphism in the hypocretin receptor 2 gene. Neurology 2006; 27;66:1917-1919.
- 17. Rainero I, Gallone S, Valfre W et al. A polymorphism of the hypocretin receptor 2 gene is associated with cluster headache. Neurology 2004;63:1286-1288.
- 18. Baumber L, Sjöstrand C, Leone M, Harty H, Bussone G, Hillert J, Trembath RC, Russell MB. A genomewide scan and HCRTR2 candidate gene analysis in a European cluster headache cohort. Neurology 2006;66(12):1888-1893.
- 19. May A, Bahra A, Büchel C, Frackowiak RSJ, Goadsby PJ. PET and MRA findings in cluster headache and MRA in experimental pain. Neurology 2000;55(9):1328-1335.
- 20. Waldenlind E, Ekbom K, Torhall J. MR-angiography during spontaneous attacks of cluster headache: a case report. Headache 1993;33(6):291-295.
- 21. Empl M, Forderreuther S, Schwarz M, Muller N, Straube A. Soluble interleukin-2 receptors increase during the active periods in cluster headache. Headache 2003;43(1):63-68.
- 22. Hardebo J. How cluster headache is explained as intracavernous inflammatory process lesioning sympathetic fibers. Headache 1994; 34(3):125-131.
- 23. Leone M, Bussone G. A review of hormonal findings in cluster headache. Evidence for hypothalamic involvement. Cephalalgia 1993;13:309-317.
- 24. Goadsby PJ, Edvinsson L. Human in vivo evidence for trigeminovascular activation in cluster headache. Neuropeptide changes and effects of acute attacks therapies. Brain 1994;117 (Pt 3):427-434.
- 25. May A. Cluster headache: pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. Lancet 2005;366(9488):843-855.
- 26. D'Amico D, Leone M, Ferraris A, et al. Role of nitric oxide in cluster headache. Ital J Neurol Sci 1999;20(2 Suppl):S25-S27.

- 27. Olesen J. The role of nitric oxide (NO) in migraine, tension-type headache and cluster headache. Pharmacol Ther 2008;120(2):157-171.
- 28. Horton B. The use of histaminc in the treatment of specific types of headaches. J. Amer. med. Ass 1941;116:377-383.
- 29. Horton B. Histaminic cephalgia. J. Lancet 1952;72:92-98.
- 30. Hardebo J, Krabbe AA, Gjerris F. Enhanced dilatory response to histamine in large extracranial vessels in chronic cluster headache. Headache 1980;20(6):316-320.
- 31. Ekbom K. Nitrolglycerin as a provocative agent in cluster headache. Archives of Neurology 1968;19(5):487-493.
- 32. Krabbe A, Henriksen L, Olesen J. Tomographic determination of cerebral blood flow during attacks of cluster headache. Cephalalgia 1984;4(1):17-23.
- 33. Nelson R, du Boulay GH, Marshall J, Russell RW, Symon L, Zilkha E. Cerebral blood flow studies in patients with cluster headache. Headache 1980;20(4):184-189.
- 34. Fusco M, D'Andrea G, Miccichè F, Stecca A, Bernadini D, Cananzi AL. Neurogenic inflammation in primary headaches. Neurol Sci 2003;24:S61-S64.
- 35. Bochner B. Road signs guiding leukocytes along the inflammation superhighway. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(5):817-828.
- 36. Hannerz J. Orbital phlebograhy and signs of inflammation in episodic and chronic cluster headache. Headache 1991;31(8):540-542.
- 37. Nilsson Remahl A, Waldenlind E, Bratt J, Ekbom K. Cluster headache is not associated with signs of a systemic inflammation. Headache 2000;40(4):276-281.
- 38. Nilsson Remahl A, Bratt J, Möllby H, Nordborg E, Waldenlind E. Comparison of soluble ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin levels in patients with episodic cluster headache and giant cell arteritis. Cephalalgia 2008;28(2):157-163.
- 39. Martelletti P, Stirparo G, De Stefano L, Di Sabato F, Giacovazzo M, Rinaldi-Garaci C. Defective expression of IL-2 receptors on peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with cluster headache. Headache 1990;30(4):228-231.
- 40. Martelletti P, Granata M, Giacovazzo M. Serum interleukin-1 beta is increased in cluster headache. Cephalalgia 1993;13(5):343-345; discussion 307-308.
- 41. Gawel M, Krajewski A, Luo GYM, Ichise MD. The Cluster Diathesis. Headache1990 1990;30:652-655.
- 42. Sianard-Gainko J, Milet J, Ghuysen V, Schoenen J. Increased parasellar activity on Gallium SPECT is not specific for active cluster headache Cephalalgia 1994;14(2):132-133.
- 43. Goebel H, Czech N, Heinze-Kuhn K, Heinze A, Brenner W, Muhle et al. Evidence of regional plasma protein extravasation in cluster headache using Tc-99m albumin SPECT. Cephalalgia 2000;20:287.
- 44. Schuh-Hofer S, Richter M, Israel H, Geworski L, Villringer A, Munz DL, Arnold G. The use of radiolabelled human serum albumin and SPECT/MRI co-registration to study inflammation in the cavernous sinus of cluster headache patients. Cephalalgia 2006;26 (9):1115-1122.
- 45. Fanciullacci M, Alessandri M, Figini M, Geppetti P, Michelacci S. Increase in plasma calcitonin generelated peptide from the extracerebral circulation during nitroglycerin-induced cluster headache attack. Pain 1995;69:119-123.
- 46. Waldenlind E, Gustafsson SA, Ekbom K, Wetterberg L. Circadian secretion of cortisol and melatonin in cluster headache during active cluster periods and remission. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1987;50(2):207-213.
- 47. Waldenlind E, Gustafsson SA. Prolactin in cluster headache: Diurnal secretion, response to thyrotropinreleasing hormone, and relation to sex steroids and gonadotropins. Cephalalgia 1987;7(1):43-54.
- 48. Waldenlind E, Ekbom K, Wetterberg L, Fanciullacci M, Marabini S, Sicuteri F, et al. Lowered circannual urinary melatonin concentrations in episodic cluster headache. Cephalalgia 1994;14(3):199-204.
- 49. May A. A review of diagnostic and functional imaging in headache. J Headache Pain 2006;7(4):174-184.
- 50. Borsook D, Burstein R, Moulton E, Becerra L. Functional Imaging of the Trigeminal System: Applications to Migraine Pathophysiology. Headache 2006;46(suppl 1):S32-S38.
- 51. Ramachanrdan R, Beri Ploug K, Hay-Schmidt A, Olesen J, Jansen-Olesen I, Gubta S. Nitric oxide synthase (NOS) in the trigeminal vascular system and other brain structures related to pain in rats. Neuroscience Letters 2010;484:192-196.
- 52. Holland P, Goadsby P. Cluster headache, hypothalamus and orexin. Current Pain and Headache Reports 2009;13:147-154.

- 53. Laudon Meyer E, Waldenlind E, Marcus C. Diminished nocturnal lipolysis in cluster headache: a sign of central sympathetic dysregulation? Neurology 2003;61(9):1250-1254.
- 54. Laudon Meyer E, Marcus C, Waldenlind E. Nocturnal secretion of growth hormone, noradrenaline, cortisol and insulin in Cluster headache remission. Cephalalgia 2007;27:912-919.
- 55. Megson I, Webb DJ. Nitric oxide donor drugs: current status and future trends. Expert Opinion Investig. Drugs 2002;11(5):587-601.
- 56. Costa A, Ravaglia S, Sances G, Antonaci F, Pucci E, Nappi G. Nitric oxide pathway and response to nitroglycerin in cluster headache patients: plasma nitrite and citrulline levels. Cephalalgia 2003;23:407-413.
- 57. Bagetta G, Iannone M, Del Duca C, Nistico G. Inhibition by N omega-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester of the electrocortical arousal response in rats. Br J Pharmacol 1993;108:858-860.
- 58. Cudeiro J, Rivadulla C Rodriguez R, Martinez-Conde S, Acuna C, Alonso JM. Modulatory influence of putative inhibitors of nitric oxide synthesis on visual processing in the cat lateral geniculate nucleus. J Neurophysol 1994;71:146-149.
- 59. Meller S, Gebhart GF. Nitric oxide (NO) and nociceptive processing in the spinal cord. Pain 1993:127-136.
- 60. Hou M, Kanje, M, Longmore, J, Tajti, J, Uddman, R, & Edvinsson, L. 5-HT(1B) and 5-HT(1D) receptors in the human trigeminal ganglion: co-localization with calcitonin gene-related peptide, substance P and nitric oxide synthase. Brain Res 2001;909:112–120.
- 61. Strecker T, Dux M and Messlinger K. Nitric oxide releases calcitonin-generelatedpeptide from rat dura mater encephali promoting increases in meningeal blood flow. J Vasc Res 2002;39:489–496.
- 62. Eltorp CT, Jansen-Olesen I and Hansen A J. Release of calcitonin gene-relatedpeptide (CGRP) from guinea pig dura mater in vitro is inhibited by sumatriptan but unaffected by nitric oxide. Cephalalgia 2000;20:838–844.
- 63. Schwenger N, Dux M, de Col R, Carr R, Messlinger K. Interaction of calcitonin gene-related peptide, nitric oxide and histamine release in neurogenic blood flow and afferent activation in the rat cranial dura mater. Cephalalgia 2007;27:481–491
- 64. de Hoon J, Pickkers P, Smits P, Struijker-Boudier HA, Van Bortel LM. Calcitonin gene-related peptide: exploring its vasodilating mechanism of action inhumans. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2003;73:312–321.
- 65. Herulf M, Ljung T, Hellström PM, Weitzberg E, Lundberg JO. Scand J Gastroenterol. Increased luminal nitric oxide in inflammatory bowel disease as shown with a novel minimally invasive method. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1998;33(2):164-169.
- 66. Danilov A, Andersson M, Bavand N, Wiklund NP, Olsson T, Brundin L. Nitric oxide metabolite determinations reveal continuous inflammation in multiple sclerosis. Journal of Neuroimmunology 2003;136:112-118.
- 67. Ehren I, Hosseini A, Lundberg JO, Wiklund NE. Nitric oxide: a useful gas in the detection of lower urinary tract inflammation. J Urol 1999;162:327-329.
- 68. Evers S. Pharmacotherapy of cluster headache. Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy 2010;11:2121-2127.
- 69. Ekbom K, Monstad I, Prusinski A, Cole JA, Pilgrim AJ, Noronha D. Subcutaneous sumatriptan in the acute treatment of cluster headache: a dose comparision study. Acta Neurol Scand 1993;88:63-69.
- 70. Stovner L, Sjaastad O. Treatment of cluster headache and its variants. Curr Opin Neurol 1995;8:243-247.
- 71. Durham P, Russo AF. Regulation of Calcitonin Gene-Related Peptide Secretion by a Serotonergic Antimigraine Drug. The Journal of Neuroscience 1999;19(9):3423-3429.
- 72. Kudrow L. Response of cluster headache attacks to oxygen inhalation. Headache 1981;21(1):1-4.
- 73. Cohen A, Burns B, Goadsby PJ. High-Flow Oxygen for Treatment of Cluster Headache. JAMA 2009;302(22):2451-2457.
- 74. Drummond P, Anthony M. Extracranial vascular responses to sublingual nitroglycerine and oxygen inhalation on cluster headache patients. Headache 1985;25:70-74.
- 75. Nilsson Remahl A, Ansjön R, Lind F, Waldenlind E. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment of active cluster headache:a double-blind placebo-controlled cross-over study. Cephalalgia 2002;22:730-739.
- 76. May A, Leone M, Afra J, et al. EFNS Task Force. EFNS guidelines on the treatment of cluster headache and other trigeminal-autonomic cephalalgias. Eur J Neurol 2006;13:1066-1077.
- 77. Gabai I, Spierings EL. Prophylactic treatment of cluster headache with verapamil. Headache 1989;29(3):167-168.

- 78. Tfelt-Hansen P, Tfelt-Hansen, J. Verapamil for Cluster Headache. Clinical Pharmacology and Possible Mode of Action. Headache 2009;49:117-125.
- 79. Cohen A, Matharu MS, Goadsby PJ. Electrocardiographic abnormalities in patients with cluster headache on verapamil therapy. Neurology 2007;69:668-675.
- 80. Sarchelli P, Alberti A, Codini M, Floridi M, Gallai V. Nitric Oxide metabolites, prostaglanins and trigeminal vasoactive peptides in internal jugular vein blood during spontaneous migaine attacks. Cephalalgia 2000;20:907-918.
- 81. Dattilo J, Makhoul RG. The Role of Nitric Oxide in Vascular Biology and Pathobiology. Annals of Vascular Surgery 1997;11:307-314.
- 82. Matharu M, Bartsch T, Ward N, Frackowiak RS, Weiner R, Goadsby PJ. Central neuromodulation in chronic migraine patients with suboccipital stimulators: a PET study. Brain 2004;127(Pt1):220-230.
- 83. Goadsby P, Bartsch T, Dodick DW. Occipital nerve stimulation for headache: mechanisms and efficacy. Headache 2008;48(2):313-318.
- 84. Leone M. Deep brain stimulation in headache. Lancet Neurol 2006;5(10):873-877.
- 85. Ross J. mRNA Stability in Mammalian Cells. Microbiological Reviews 1995:423-450.
- 86. Carrol E, Salway F, Pepper S, Saunders E, Mankhambo LA, Ollier WE, Hart CA, Day P. Succesful downstream application of the Paxgene Blood RNA system from small blood samples in paediatric patients for quantitative PCR analysis. BMC Immunology 2007;8:1-8.
- 87. Ejiofor C. Personal information. Qiagen Nordic.
- 88. Tominaga K, Miura Y, Arakawa T, Kobayashi K, Mitsuhashi M. Colorimetric ELISA measurement of specific mRNA on immobilized- oligonucleotide-coated microtiter plates by reverse transcription with biotinylated mononucleotides. Clininical Chemistry 1996;42:1750-1757.
- 89. Livak K, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of Relative Gene Expression Data Using Real-Time Quantitative PCR and the $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT Method. Methods 2001;25:402-408.
- 90. Bjork K, Kafadar K. Systematic order-dependent effect in expression values, variance, detection calls and differential expression in Affymetrix GeneChips®. Bioinformatics 2007;23:2873-2880.
- 91. Barone A, Beecher JE, Bury PA, Chen C, Doede T, Fidanza JA, McGall GH. Photolithographic synthesis of high-density oligonucleotide probe arrays. Nucleosides, Nucleotides and Nucleic Acids 2001;20(4-7):525-531.
- 92. Ohtaki M, Otani K, Hiyama K, Kamei N, Satoh K, Hiyama E. A robust method for estimating gene expression states using Affymetrix microarray probe level data. BMC Bioinformatics 2010;11:183:1471-2105.
- 93. Freeman W, Walker SJ, Vrana KE. Quantitative RT-PCR: Pitfalls and Potential. BioTechniques 1999;26:112-125.
- 94. Valasek M, Repa JJ. The power of real-time PCR. Advances in Physiology Education 2005;29:151-159.
- 95. Bustin S. Absolute quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assays. Journal of Molecular Endocrinology 2000;25:169-193.
- 96. Johansson B, Johansson L. Nuklearmedicin teknik. In: Hietala S, editor. Nuklearmedicin. Lund: Studentlitteratur; 1998. p. 161-176.
- 97. Promemoria Verksamhetsområde Sjukhusfysik Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset 2010.
- 98. Landers J. Clinical capillary electrophoresis. Clin. Chem. 1995;41:495-509.
- 99. Shihabi Z, Friedberg MA. Analysis of small molecules for clinical diagnosis by capillary electrophoresis. Electrophoresis 1997;18:1724-1732.
- 100. Trushina E, Oda RP, Landers JP, et al. Determination of nitrite and nitrate reduction by capillary ion electrophoresis. Electrophoresis 1997;18:1890-1898.
- 101. Capillary electrophoresis. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Capillary_electrophoresis (accessed 2011-02-13).
- 102. Irizarry R, Hobbs B, Collin F, et al. Exploration, normalization, and summaries of high density oligonucleotide array probe level data. Biostatistics 2003;4:249-264.
- 103. Gibadulinova A, Tothova V, Pastorek J, Pastorekova S. Transcriptional regulation and functional implication of S100P in cancer. Amino Acids. 2010:Epub ahead of print.
- 104. Williamson D, Hargeaves RJ. Neorogenic inflammation in the context of migraine Microscopy Research and Technique 2001;53:167-178.
- 105. Johnson K, Bolay H Neurogenic inflammatory mechanisms in The headaches: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2006.

- 106. Gaffen S, Liu KD. Overview of interleukin-2 function, production and clinical applications. Cytokine 2004;28:109-123.
- 107. Guidi L, Tricerri A, Vangeli M et al. Neuropeptide Y plasma levels and immunological changes during academic stress. Neuropsychobiology 1999;40:188-195.
- 108. Naliboff B, Benton D, Solomon GF et al. Immunological changes in young and old adults during brief laboratory stress. Psychosom Med 1991;53:121-132.
- 109. Yao M, Wang JH, Gu JF, Sun LY, Liu H, Zhao ZQ, Liu XY. Interleukin-2 gene has superior antinociceptive effects when delivered intrathecally. Neuroreport 2002;13:791-794.
- 110. Karanth S, Lyson K, McCann SM. Role of nitric oxide in interleukin 2-induced corticotropin-releasing factor release from incubated hypothalami. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci 1993;90:3383-3387.
- 111. McCann S, Kimura M, Karanth S, Yu WH, Rettori V. Nitric oxide controls the hypothalamic-pituitary response to cytokines. Neuroimmunomodulation 1997;4(2):98-106.
- 112. Raber J, Koob GF, Bloom FE. Interleukin-2 (IL-2) induces corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) release from the amygdala and involves a nitric oxide-mediated signaling; comparison with the hypothalamic response. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1995;272(2):815-824.
- Cambronero J, Rivas FJ, Borrell J, Guaza C. Interleukin-2 Induces Corticotropin-Releasing Hormone Release from Superfused Rat Hypothalami: Influence of Glucocorticoids. Endocrinology 1992;131(2):677-683.
- 114. Brundin L ME, Olsson T, Wiklund PN, Andersson M. Increased intrathecal nitric oxide formation in multiple sclerosis; cerebrospinal fluid nitrite as activity marker. Euro J Neurol 1999;6:585-590.
- 115. Rejdak K, Eikelenboom MJ, Petzold A, Thompson EJ, Stelmasiak Z, Lazeron RHC, Barkhof F, Polman CH, Uitdehaag BMJ, Giovannoni G. CSF nitric oxide metabolites are associated with activity and progression of multiple sclerosis. Neurology 2004;63:1439-1445.
- 116. Lin Q, Paleček J, Palečková V, Peng YB, WU J, Cui M, Willis WD. Nitric Oxide Mediates the Central Sensitization of Primate Spinothalamic Tract Neurons. Journal of Neurophysiology 1999;81:1075-1085.
- 117. Thomsen L, Olesen J. Nitric oxide in primary headaches. Curr Opin Neurol 2001;14:315-321.
- 118. Kitto K, Haley JE, Wilcox GL. Involvement of nitric oxide in spinally mediated hyperalgesia in the mouse. Neuroscience Letters 1992;148:1-5.
- 119. Bellamy J, Bowen EJ, Russo AF, Durham PL. Nitric oxide regulation of calcitonin gene-related peptide gene expression in rat trigeminal ganglia neurons. European Journal of Neuroscience 2006;23:2057-2066.
- 120. Dieterle A, Fischer MJ, Link AS, Neuhuber WL, Messlinger K. Increase in CGRP- and nNOSimmunoreactive neurons in the rat trigeminal ganglion after infusion of an NO donor. Cephalalgia 2011;31(1):31-42.
- 121. Personett D, Fass U, Panickar K, McKinney M. Retinoic acid-mediated enhancement of the cholinergic/neuronal nitric oxide synthase phenotype of the medial septal SN56 clone: establishment of a nitric oxide-sensitive proapoptotic state. Journal of Neurochemistry 2000;74:2412-2424.
- 122. Wang J, Robinson JF, Khan HM, Carter DE, McKinney J, Miskie BA et al. Optimizing RNA extraction yield from whole blood for microarray gene expression analysis. Clin Biochem 2004;37(9):741-744.



Martin Kellerman ©, Kartago förlag